**RECEIVED**

**08-01-2018**

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS  
OF WISCONSIN**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

C O U R T O F A P P E A L S

DISTRICT I

---

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

No. 2018 AP 952-CR

ALBERTO E. RIVERA,

---

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF  
THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT  
HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

---

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

---

TIM PROVIS  
Appellate Counsel  
Bar No. 1020123

123 East Beutel Road  
Port Washington, WI 53074  
(414) 339-4458

Attorney for Appellant  
RIVERA

##

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether it was prejudicially unfair to allow admission of other acts evidence to rebut Mr. Rivera's identity defense.

The State's pretrial motion to admit other acts evidence was denied but the pretrial court below found if Mr. Rivera raised a defense of identity, *inter alia*, other acts would be admissible to rebut his defense.

2. Whether there was sufficient evidence to convict Mr. Rivera of 1<sup>st</sup> Degree Intentional Homicide and Attempted 1<sup>st</sup> Degree Intentional Homicide.

The court below denied the defense motion to dismiss after the close of the evidence.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument is not requested.

## STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Counsel requests publication because the opinion here is likely to apply established rules of law to a factual situation significantly different from those in previous opinions and therefore will clarify those rules.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### 1. Nature of the Case

This is a review of Mr. Rivera's criminal convictions by a jury of 1<sup>st</sup> degree murder and attempted 1<sup>st</sup> degree murder.

### 2. Proceedings Below

On April 16, 2015, complaint number 15-CF-1640 was filed in Milwaukee County Circuit Court charging Mr. Rivera with a violation of §941.29(2), *Wis. Stats.* (Felon with a Gun, Repeater) (1). On August 26, 2015, Mr. Rivera appeared with appointed counsel. (191). Bail was set at \$25,000 and preliminary hearing was set for September 3, 2015. (191:7-8)

On September 3, 2015, Mr. Rivera waived his right to a preliminary hearing. (5)(192). On that date, an Information was filed adding the charges of 1<sup>st</sup> Degree Intentional Homicide, Attempted 1<sup>st</sup> Degree Homicide and 2 counts of Armed Robbery. (6)(192:4). Arraignment was held October 8, 2015 and Mr. Rivera entered a not guilty plea by counsel. (195:3).

On November 9, 2015, the State filed a motion to introduce other acts evidence at trial. (10)(11). On December 4, 2015, defense counsel filed the response to the motion. (12). The motion was heard on December 18, 2015. (196). On January 4, 2016, the court below issued its written decision denying the motion but finding if Mr. Rivera used, *inter alia*, a defense of identity, the State could present the other acts in rebuttal. (14).

Jury trial took place July 10-13, 2017. (220)(221)(222)(223)(224)(225)(226)(227). Mr. Rivera took the stand in his own defense. (225:45-131). On July 13, 2017, the jury returned its verdict of guilty on all charges. (178).

On October 18, 2017, the court sentenced Mr. Rivera to life imprisonment without eligibility for extended supervision on the murder and to consecutive terms of 30 years (20 confinement and 10 extended supervision) for the attempted murder and 10 years (5 confinement and 5 extended supervision) for the weapon possession. The court further sentenced Mr. Rivera to concurrent terms of 30 years each on the 2 armed robbery counts (20 years confinement and 10 years extended supervision each). (185)(229). The court denied presentence credit. (185:3).

Notice of Intent was filed October 18, 2017 (184) and Notice of Appeal was filed May21, 2018. (40).

### 3. Facts of the Offense

The surviving victim testified Mr. Rivera ordered her at gunpoint to get in the back of a vehicle and keep her head down. (223:13 [line 24] – 14 [line 5]). She complied by getting into the third seat, putting her head down and crossing her arms over her forehead. (223:14 [line 4] – 17 [line 4]). Then, she swore, Mr. Rivera got into the vehicle in the middle

passenger seat which was in front of her. (223:17 [lines 7-18]). Then Mr. Rivera made a phone call telling someone to “bring him down.” (223:18 [lines 1-18]). She continued to keep her head down. (223:18 [lines 19-23]). Persons she could not see pushed the male victim into the middle seat. He was restrained, preventing him from talking or moving. (223:19 [line 10] - 20 [line 3]). Mr. Rivera repeatedly demanded money from him. (223:20 [lines 4-8]). After he denied having any money, the vehicle went to the male victim’s house as Mr. Rivera wanted to see if there was any money there. Her head was still down. (223:20 [lines 10-23]). After arriving, the door on her side of the vehicle opens and she hears 2 shots, a pause and she hears another shot. (223:24 [line 21] – 28 [line 7])(223:43 [line 10]). She did not see anyone shoot. (223:26 [lines 12-13])(223:42 [lines 18-19]).

## Argument

### I. ALLOWING ADMISSION OF THE OTHER ACTS EVIDENCE WAS PREJUDICIAL ERROR.

#### A. Standard of Review

Generally evidence rulings are discretionary, but where they are based on an error of law, the reviewing court reverses for erroneous exercise of discretion. *State v. Daniels*, 160 Wis.2d 85, 100, 465 N.W.2d 633 (1991). Furthermore, where the evidence question involves application of a statute, the review is *de novo*. *State v. Franklin*, 2004 WI 38, ¶5, 270 Wis.2d 271. Finally, whether admission of evidence is constitutional is reviewed *de novo*. See, e.g., *State v. Moats*, 156 Wis.2d 74, 93-94, 457 N.W.2d 299, 308 (1990).

#### B. Discussion

It is well settled where other acts evidence is sought to be admitted to prove identity, the court

must use stricter standards of probativeness and relevancy because of the greater prejudice that accompanies such evidence. *State v. Kuntz*, 160 Wis.2d 722, 749, 467 N.W.2d 531, 541 (1991); *Whitty v. State*, 34 Wis.2d 278, 294, 149 N.W.2d 557, 564 (1967). Specifically, to admit other acts for identity, there must be “so many points of similarity between the other acts and the crime charged that it can reasonably be said that the other acts and the present act constitute the imprint of the defendant.” *State v. Fishnick*, 127 Wis.2d 247, 263-264, 378 N.W.2d 272, 281 (1986). And see *U.S. v. Murray*, 103 F.3d 310, 318 (3d Cir.1997)(opn. per Alito, J.)(applying federal evidence rule on which §904.04, *Wis. Stats.* is based, earlier murder was not a “signature killing” and reversing due to prejudice from its admission).

Following these rules, the pretrial judge denied the State’s motion to admit Mr. Rivera’s 1997 murder conviction as an other act. (14). But then it incomprehensibly ordered the conviction could come in on rebuttal if Mr. Rivera raised a defense, *inter alia*, of identity. (14:3-4). Other acts evidence is, of course, admissible on rebuttal, *King v. State*, 75 Wis.2d 26, 248 N.W.2d 458 (1977), but the rules of admissibility for it are the same. *State v. Sonnenberg*, 117 Wis.2d 159, 169-174, 344 N.W.2d 95, 100-102 (1984). That is to say, by allowing the conviction to be admitted as rebuttal after finding it inadmissible, the pretrial court below was permitting exactly what *Sonnenberg, supra*, prohibits, *i.e.*, permitting inadmissible other acts evidence in rebuttal.

### C. Prejudice

The time honored Wisconsin test for prejudicial error, whether constitutional or not, was laid down in *State v. Dyess*, 125 Wis.2d 525, 543, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985). To avoid reversal, the State has the burden of



showing “there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction.” *Id.* See *State v. Sullivan*, 216 Wis.2d 768, 792, 576 N.W.2d 30, 41 (1988)(“The conviction must be reversed unless the court is certain the error did not influence the jury.”).

Mr. Rivera’s defense was identity (221:80 [defense opening argument]) and he was on trial for 1<sup>st</sup> degree murder. The prosecutor’s closing argument to the jury emphasized the other murder conviction. (226:49 [line 3] – 50 [line 18]). “It should go without saying that evidence in a murder trial that the defendant committed another prior murder poses a high risk of unfair prejudice.” *Murray, supra*, 103 F.3d at 319 (murder conviction reversed since government could not show it was probable jury uninfluenced by erroneous admission).

Furthermore, counsel notes the surviving victim repeatedly testified she did not see who fired the shots. (223:26 [lines 12-13])(223:42 [lines18-19]). Her testimony showed other persons were present inside and outside the vehicle (223:19 [lines 5-9])(African American driving car)(223:19 [lines 11-23])(“They” push other victim into car)(223:22 [line 7] – 23 [line 4])(another person drives another car up to passenger side where Mr. Rivera is) and the State’s firearms examiner testified the shells found could have been from as many as 3 different weapons. (222:60 [line 24] – 61 [line 1]). So, the State’s case on identity was not strong and it was probable the jury was influenced by the evidence of the other murder.

## II. THE EVIDENCE OF MURDER AND ATTEMPTED MURDER WAS INSUFFICIENT.

### A. Standard of Review

“[T]he relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have

found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 2789 (1979) (emphasis in original). Whether the evidence is direct or circumstantial, the test is the same. *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis.2d 493, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990)

#### B. Additional Facts

The surviving victim repeatedly testified she did not see who fired the shots. (223:26 [lines 12-13])(223:42 [lines 18-19]). Her testimony showed other persons were present inside and outside the vehicle (223:19 [lines 5-9])(African American driving car)(223:19 [lines 11-23])(“They” push other victim into car)(223:22 [line 7] – 23 [line 4])(another person drives another car up to passenger side where Mr. Rivera is) and the State’s firearms examiner testified the shells found could have been from as many as 3 different weapons. (222:60 [line 24] – 61 [line 1]).

#### C. Discussion

The direct evidence noted above does not show who fired the fatal shots. The conclusion it was Mr. Rivera is based entirely on the surviving victim’s circumstantial testimony that she heard shots coming from above and in front of her. (223:24 [line 21] – 28 [line 17]) (in Appendix). This was immediately after the door next to her opened. She testified the door opened. She heard 2 shots. There was brief pause. She heard another shot and the door closed. (223:24 [lines 22-25]).

Nothing in this testimony identifies who was shooting. Did the person or persons who opened the door shoot? Shots fired by persons in the open doorway would be consistent with her testimony. The jury impliedly found Mr. Rivera, sitting in the seat in front of her fired the shots, but the victim-witness never saw that. She testified “like somebody

is over my head.” (223:24 [line 23]). Later, the prosecutor tried to lead her into saying a person was trying to climb over her (223:26 [line 24] – 27 [line 10]), but she only testified “you can feel someone over your - - just over the seat.” (223:27 [lines 8-9]). But even if she was able to feel a person over her, even someone who was climbing over the seat, there was another person, the driver, in the car. The testimony is consistent with this person moving or climbing above her.

So, counsel submits this circumstantial evidence does not show who was shooting. Furthermore, when it is considered 2 different caliber of bullets were found (222:50-61), this indicates more than one person was shooting.

Therefore, the evidence was insufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt Mr. Rivera was the person who fired the 3 shots the witness heard.

### Conclusion

Counsel respectfully submits the foregoing demonstrates the Court should reverse and remand for a new trial.