### RECEIVED

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### 10-04-2018

### $C\ O\ U\ R\ T$ $O\ F$ $A\ P\ P\ E\ A\ L$ §LERK OF COURT OF APPEALS **OF WISCONSIN**

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP952-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ALBERTO E. RIVERA,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

#### RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLANTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

1. In 1997, Alberto E. Rivera was convicted of felony murder for luring a drug dealer to a particular location to rob him; Rivera then shot and killed the dealer. In this case, Rivera was accused of luring a drug dealer to a particular location, attempting to rob him, killing him, and injuring the dealer's girlfriend, who witnessed the crime. Did the trial court erroneously exercise its discretion when it allowed the State to admit evidence of Rivera's prior conviction after Rivera raised an identity defense?

The trial court's exercise of discretion was sound.

This Court should affirm.

2. Was there sufficient evidence at trial to convict Rivera of first-degree intentional homicide and attempted first-degree intentional homicide under a party-to-a-crime theory of liability?

The jury convicted Rivera of both counts.

This Court should affirm.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State requests neither. This Court may resolve the issues presented by applying well-established law, and the parties' briefs should adequately set forth the relevant facts and legal standards.

#### INTRODUCTION

Rivera is not entitled to relief on either claim. The trial court soundly allowed the State to introduce evidence of Rivera's highly similar past crime to rebut Rivera's defense that he was not involved in the homicide and attempt in this case.

Further, the four-day trial in this case produced ample evidence that Rivera at least aided and abetted others in shooting and killing the homicide victim and shooting the surviving victim. The jury verdicts of guilt on both counts are sound. This Court should affirm.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Overview and pretrial ruling. After a four-day trial, a jury convicted Rivera of numerous charges, including (1) first-degree intentional homicide for the shooting death of Henry Hodges, and (2) attempted first-degree intentional homicide, for shooting and injuring Hodges's girlfriend, Beth. (R. 185.) The State charged each count as a party to a crime with repeater and use-of-a-dangerous-weapon enhancers. (R. 6:1–2.)

Pretrial, the State sought to admit other-act evidence of Rivera's 1997 conviction for felony murder for his involvement in the armed robbery and shooting death of a drug dealer. (R. 10.) The court made a conditional denial of the State's motion, in which it barred the State from introducing that evidence in its case-in-chief, but it allowed the State to introduce it on rebuttal if Rivera raised a defense challenging intent, identity, motive, or modus operandi. (R. 14:3–4; 196:15–17.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Beth" is a pseudonym for the surviving victim. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.86(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Honorable Ellen R. Brostrom made the initial pretrial ruling. (R. 14; 196.) Subsequently, the case rotated to the Honorable Jeffrey A. Wagner's calendar. In the final pretrial hearing, the parties alerted Judge Wagner to the other-act ruling (R. 219:6–7), and Judge Wagner confirmed that, based on Judge Brostrom's order, the evidence of the prior conviction could come in depending on Rivera's case-in-chief (R. 219:6–7).

A summary of relevant trial evidence follows.

The State's case-in-chief. Beth testified that on the evening of April 8, 2015, her boyfriend, Hodges, picked her up in a Chevy Tahoe to go out to eat. (R. 223:5–7.) En route, Hodges received a call from Rivera, whom Beth knew to be Hodges's friend and whom she had met five or six times before. (R. 223:7.) After taking the call, Hodges told Beth that he would be making a stop at Rivera's apartment, a place Beth testified she had been before. (R. 223:7–10.) They arrived at Rivera's apartment building, and Hodges went inside while Beth waited in the Tahoe and occupied herself with her cell phone. (R. 223:10.)

After 10 or 15 minutes, Beth saw someone walking from the building to the Tahoe. (R. 223:11.) She first assumed it was Hodges and unlocked the car, but it was Rivera, who approached the passenger side and told Beth that Hodges "said, [l]ook under his seat." (R. 223:12.) Beth bent to look under the seat but saw nothing. (R. 223:13.) When she rose back up, Rivera was aiming a gun with a laser sight at her head. (R. 223:12–13.) Rivera told Beth to get in the back of the truck and keep her head down. (R. 223:14.)

The truck had three seating areas: a front, a middle row, and a back row. (R. 223:14.) Beth climbed into the back row and put her head down, while Rivera moved back to the middle row, where he sat with the gun on his lap. (R. 223:14–15, 17.)

Beth saw an African-American man get into the driver's seat and drive the truck behind Rivera's residence. (R. 223:18–19.) Beth heard Rivera make a phone call, "and he tells them to bring him down." (R. 223:18.) Soon after, Hodges was pushed into the middle of the truck. Beth did not get a good look at Hodges, but she could tell that something covered his mouth and that he could not walk on

his own. (R. 223:19.) Beth heard Rivera ask Hodges multiple times where the money was, and Hodges said he did not have any. (R. 223:20.) Rivera then told Hodges to direct them to his house to make sure he had no money there. (R. 223:20–21.)

They drove for 10 minutes to Hodges's house. (R. 223:21.) Beth testified that when they stopped, a second car pulled up along the passenger side; the person in that car indicated that he forgot Hodges's house keys. (R. 223:22–23.) Rivera said that they had to drive back to get the keys. (R. 223:24.) Beth noted that they drove less than five or six minutes before stopping. (R. 223:24.) Then, Beth heard Rivera tell Hodges, "Let me holler at Ra Ra real quick." (R. 223:25.) Beth heard the door open and two gunshots coming from where Rivera was seated in the middle row. (R. 223:26.)

Beth kept her head down, but she felt someone moving over the back of the middle seat and over her. (R. 223:27.) She heard another two shots but did not feel them, and at some point she heard the Tahoe's door close. (R. 223:28.) Two or three minutes later, she felt blood coming over her head and described "[t]rying to figure out if I got shot in my head. Trying to see if [Hodges] was fine. He didn't move when I called his name." (R. 223:27.)

Beth got out of the Tahoe and ran to a nearby apartment building, where a resident called 911. (R. 223:29.) Police arrived and took Beth to a hospital; she had been shot in both arms and hands, and a bullet had grazed her head. (R. 223:28–29.) On the way to the hospital, Beth told police that Rivera was the shooter. (R. 223:30–31.)

Responding police officers also discovered Hodges's lifeless body inside the Tahoe. Hodges had been shot in the head. (R. 224:14–15.) His hands and legs were bound with extension cords. (R. 222:65–66.) Duct tape covered his

mouth. (R. 222:66.) Based on powder stippling around the entrance wound, the medical examiner estimated that the gun discharged from about "several inches to maybe a foot" away. (R. 224:15.) Hodges also had been shot in the left knee. (R. 224:16.) Both bullets passed through Hodges's body. (R. 224:14–16.)

Police found two fired 9mm bullets around the middle row of seats: one was embedded in carpet on the floor, and the other ended up inside Beth's purse, which had been sitting in the space between the front driver and passenger seats, just in front of the middle row. (R. 222:17–19, 66, 68, 81.) A firearms and tool mark expert testified that those two bullets were discharged by the same gun. (R. 222:55–56.) Police also found a spent bullet that had landed in some shopping bags in the cargo area behind the back row. (R. 222:39–43.) According to the expert, that bullet was a .380 caliber that had been discharged from a different gun. (R. 222:56.)

Police also found three fired 9mm shell casings. One was behind Hodges's body. (R. 222:29–30, 47–48.) Another was under the middle seat. (R. 222:35.) The third was on the back row seat. (R. 222:38.) The expert concluded that all three casings were discharged by the same gun. (R. 222:58.)

Although Beth only knew the gunman as "Alberto" and did not know his last name, police were able to narrow down Rivera as the "Alberto" whom Beth named. (R. 223:68–73.) When shown a photograph of Rivera, Beth immediately identified him with 100 percent certainty as the shooter. (R. 223:32–33, 77–78.) She also identified him in a live lineup four months after the shooting. (R. 223:38, 52.) Hodges's brother also knew the Alberto with whom his brother had associated; he led police to the apartment where he knew Alberto to live. It was the same building to which Hodges and Beth had driven on the night of the murder. (R. 223:72–74.)

Police made efforts to identify and investigate Rivera's accomplices. (R. 224:33; 225:11.) They were able to link a fingerprint found on a duct tape roll to a man named Levell Drew (R. 224:32–33), although they were unable to link Drew to the crime through any other fingerprints or DNA (R. 224:105, 110). During the investigation, police showed Beth a photo array with Drew as the target; Beth did not recognize Drew as the gunman or otherwise being one of the men involved in the incident. (R. 225:140–46.) Rivera also later identified "Ra Ra" as Terrance Jackson. (R. 225:51.) But it was not clear based on the evidence presented whether police otherwise found sufficient evidence to charge Drew or Jackson for their involvement in the crimes.

Police also found evidence that Rivera, in the afternoon before Hodges's murder, made changes to his cell phones, ostensibly to avoid police connecting him to Hodges. In the afternoon before the murder, Rivera deactivated his then-current cell phone and activated a new phone and number at a cell phone store. (R. 224:124–34.) Immediately after, Rivera went to a different store, where Rivera purchased and activated a second new phone. (R. 224:135–39.) According to the call records from that phone, which police found in the trunk of Rivera's car, the only outgoing calls on it went to Hodges. (R. 225:7–9.)

Rivera's testimony. Rivera denied shooting Hodges or Beth, and he denied being in the Tahoe when the shooting occurred. (R. 225:45–46.) Rivera said that he and Hodges sold drugs together. (R. 225:46–47.) According to Rivera, Hodges supplied the drugs, Rivera would sell them, and then Rivera would pay Hodges back. (R. 225:48–49.)

Rivera agreed that he called Hodges on the evening of his murder and asked him to bring a supply of drugs for Rivera to sell the next day. (R. 225:54–55.) He was at his apartment with two friends—Drew and Jackson—neither of whom was friends with Hodges. (R. 225:58, 67–68.) Rivera

claimed that while he was waiting for Hodges to arrive, a buyer called and was ready to do business. (R. 225:57.) So, Rivera testified, he left his apartment before Hodges arrived to make that sale. (R. 225:57–58.) Rivera said that Drew and Jackson remained at his apartment, though Rivera denied telling them that Hodges was on his way there. (R. 225:58–59, 95.)

Rivera claimed that when he returned, his apartment door was open, the lights were off, and no one was there. (R. 225:60–62.) Rivera found a set of keys on the counter and called Jackson, asking him where he was. (R. 226:65.) According to Rivera, Jackson told Rivera to come to 36th and Greenfield. (R. 225:65.)

Rivera complied. When he arrived at the intersection, he saw Jackson get out of the driver's side of Hodges's Tahoe. (R. 225:66–67.) Rivera claimed he knew something was wrong, because Jackson would not have normally driven Hodges's car. (R. 225:67–68.) Jackson told Rivera to follow him; Jackson got back in the Tahoe, and Rivera followed him into an alley. (R. 225:70.) Rivera said that Jackson got out of the Tahoe, opened the rear passenger door, and shot his gun twice inside. (R. 225:70.) According to Rivera, Jackson then jumped into the car Rivera was driving; Drew got out of the rear passenger side of the Tahoe and joined Jackson and Rivera. (R. 225:72.) Rivera said that they drove back to his apartment in silence. (R. 225:72–74.)

During his testimony, Rivera acknowledged his 1997 felony murder conviction, for which he had been released from confinement just a year and a half before Hodges's murder. (R. 225:91–92.) Rivera testified that that crime involved Rivera and a coactor luring a drug dealer to a particular location with a promise to buy drugs, holding that dealer at gunpoint in his car to look for money and drugs, and then, after finding none, shooting and killing the dealer. (R. 225:83–87, 92–102.) Rivera claimed that in the 1997

case, he shot the dealer by accident, but he acknowledged that he pleaded guilty to the felony murder charge. (R. 225:87–88.)

Verdict and sentence. The jury found Rivera guilty of all counts, including first-degree intentional homicide as a party to a crime for Hodges's death and attempted first-degree intentional homicide as a party to a crime for Beth's injuries. (R. 185.) The court sentenced Rivera to a life sentence without eligibility for extended supervision, in addition to consecutive and concurrent sentences on the other counts. (R. 185:1–3.)

Rivera appeals.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The circuit court soundly exercised its discretion in allowing admission of Rivera's 1997 felony-murder conviction.
  - A. This Court defers to the circuit court's discretionary decision-making regarding other-act evidence.

This Court will sustain an evidentiary ruling if "it finds that the circuit court examined the relevant facts; applied a proper standard of law; and using a demonstrative rational process, reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." *State v. Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 780–81, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998). If the circuit court does not fully exercise its discretion, this Court will uphold the circuit court's decision if the record contains facts that would support a proper and full exercise of discretion. *Id.* at 781.

Other-act evidence must satisfy *Sullivan*'s three-part test to be admissible. First, the proponent must offer it for an acceptable purpose under Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2). *Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d at 772. Second, the evidence must be relevant

under Wis. Stat. § 904.01. *Id.* Third, the circuit court must be satisfied that the probative value of the other-act evidence is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence under Wis. Stat. § 904.03. *Id.* at 772–73.

# B. The evidence of Rivera's highly similar 1997 conviction satisfied all three *Sullivan* prongs.

Rivera does not dispute that the first *Sullivan* prong was met, nor can he. Here, the court identified the purposes for which the evidence of Rivera's 1997 conviction could come in: identity, motive, intent, and modus operandi, to the extent that Rivera's defense raised those points. (R. 14:3–4.) Those are all identified permissible purposes. *See Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d at 772.

Further, the second prong was satisfied because the past conviction was probative to Rivera's raised identity defense, which was that Jackson and Drew committed the crimes and that he was unaware of what they were doing until it was too late.

"Where other-acts evidence is used for identity purposes, similarities must exist between the 'other act' and the offense for which the defendant is being tried." State v. Fishnick, 127 Wis. 2d 247, 263, 378 N.W.2d 272 (1985) (citing Sanford v. State, 76 Wis. 2d 72, 80, 250 N.W.2d 348 (1977), and Wis. JI-Criminal 275). Similarities that "tend to identify the defendant as the proponent of an act also tend to ensure a high level of probativeness in the other-acts evidence." Id. For a court to admit other-act evidence for purposes of identity, "there should be such a concurrence of common features and so many points of similarity between the other acts and the crime charged that it can reasonably

be said that the other acts and the present act constitute the imprint of the defendant." *Id.* at 263–64 (footnote omitted).

Here, there were significant parallels between Rivera's 1997 crime and Hodges's murder, which occurred just 16 months after Rivera was released on parole from the 1997 conviction. The 1997 conviction involved Rivera conspiring with a coactor to lure a drug supplier to a particular location with the promise of a sale. But instead of buying drugs, Rivera and the coactor worked together to hold the supplier hostage in his car while they searched his car and home for money and drugs. When they found nothing, Rivera shot the supplier twice and went on the run until he could not do so any longer.

Rivera's 2015 crime bears nearly all the earmarks of Rivera's 1997 felony murder. Here, Rivera called Hodges, a drug supplier, and asked him to come to his place and supply him with drugs to sell. When Hodges arrived, Rivera and his coactors bound him and brought him back to his car, where they searched for drugs and money, and where they demanded Hodges direct them to his house where they could continue searching for drugs and money. Like in 1997, Rivera and his coactors came up short, having found no money or drugs. Like in 1997, Rivera sought to leave no surviving victims, shooting both Hodges and Beth twice. And as he did in 1997, after the shooting, Rivera again went on the run. Against that background, the circuit court soundly determined that there was "a concurrence of common features" between the two crimes. See Fishnick, 127 Wis. 2d at 263-64.

Finally, the third *Sullivan* prong was also satisfied. The great similarity between the two crimes to the issue of identity ensured a high level of probativeness. *See Fishnick*, 127 Wis. 2d at 263. That high probative value was not significantly outweighed by danger of unfair prejudice,

confusion of the issues, misleading the jury, or undue delay. See Wis. Stat. § 904.03; Sullivan, 216 Wis. 2d at 772–73.

Here, when the prosecutor discussed the 1997 crime during closing, he emphasized that the jury was to consider it only in regard to the issue of identity: "When you're using the 1997 case, whether the prior conduct of the defendant is so similar to the offense charged that it tends to identify the defendant as the one who committed the offense charged." (R. 226:87.) He made clear that "[i]t cannot be considered as he's a bad guy or he's a killer. It must never be done. That's not the way it works." (R. 226:49–50.) Moreover, the court instructed the jury that it was to weigh the 1997 crime on the purposes of its admission. (R. 226:9–10.) It warned the jury that "[i]t's not to be used to conclude that the defendant's a bad person and for that reason is guilty of the offense charged." (R. 226:10–11.) This Court presumes that juries follow their instructions, see State v. Truax, 151 Wis. 2d 354, 362, 444 N.W.2d 432 (Ct. App. 1989), and there is nothing here to suggest that that presumption is unwarranted.

#### C. Rivera's arguments fail.

Rivera argues that the court initially ruled the evidence to be inadmissible but "incomprehensibly" deemed it admissible in rebuttal. (Rivera's Br. 5.) But there was nothing incomprehensible about the court's ruling. The trial court ruled on the other-act evidence motion six months before the trial began. (R. 14.) At that point, it was not clear whether Rivera would be contesting identity and the other proposed purposes in the case. Therefore, it was premature for the court make a definitive ruling on whether the third *Sullivan* factor was satisfied. Accordingly, it made a reasonable conditional ruling prohibiting the State from introducing the evidence in its case-in-chief, but allowing it to use it if Rivera opened the door to any of the permissible

purposes, including identity. As it turned out, Rivera contested identity, which properly opened the door to admission of evidence of the very similar previous crime.

Rivera claims that the circuit court's ruling is contrary to *State v. Sonnenberg*, 117 Wis. 2d 159, 174, 344 N.W.2d 95 (1984), but in so doing, he misstates the holding of *Sonnenberg*. The rule in *Sonnenberg* is "that the impeachment of a witness on the basis of collateral facts introduced by extrinsic evidence is prohibited." *Id.* at 174. Here, the evidence of Rivera's past highly similar crime was not "collateral and inadmissible" evidence; rather, it was admissible other-act evidence once Rivera made identity an issue in the case. *Sonnenberg* simply is not on point.

Finally, Rivera argues that the error here was not harmless. (Rivera's Br. 5–6.) But this Court need not reach harmless error, because Rivera has failed his burden of explaining why the *Sullivan* factors were unsatisfied here. He cannot demonstrate any erroneous exercise of discretion by the circuit court in allowing this evidence in based on Rivera's defense theory. This Court should affirm.

# II. The evidence was sufficient to convict Rivera of first-degree and attempted first-degree intentional homicide.

This Court "may not substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990). "If any possibility exists that the trier of fact could have drawn the appropriate inferences from the evidence adduced at trial to find the requisite guilt, an appellate court may not overturn a verdict even if it believes that the trier of fact should not have found guilt based on the evidence before it."

*Id.* Thus, this Court "will only substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact when the fact finder relied upon evidence that was inherently or patently incredible—that kind of evidence [that] conflicts with the laws of nature or with fully-established or conceded facts." *State v. Tarantino*, 157 Wis. 2d 199, 218, 458 N.W.2d 582 (Ct. App. 1990).

To prove first-degree intentional homicide, the State had to prove that Rivera caused the death of Hodges and acted with the intent to kill. See Wis. JI-Criminal 1010 (2000). To prove attempted first-degree intentional homicide, the State had to prove that Rivera acted "toward the commission of" the crime of first-degree intentional homicide as to Beth. See Wis. JI-Criminal 580 (2013). Further, the State charged Rivera on both counts as a party to a crime, which provides that "[i]f a person intentionally aids and abets the commission of a crime, then that person is guilty of the crime as well as the person who directly commits it." Wis. JI-Criminal 407 (2005).

Here, Beth testified that she knew Rivera, that he approached her while she sat in the Tahoe, that he aimed a gun at her head, that he ordered her to move to the back and duck down, that he sat in the seat in front of her as Hodges was moved into the Tahoe, that she heard Rivera say something, that she immediately heard two gunshots from the middle seat, that she felt the person in the seat ahead of her crawling over the seat to where she was, and that she heard two more shots. Beth was shot in the arms and head. Hodges was shot in the head and knee. Given that and the other evidence supporting Rivera's guilt, the jury was entitled to believe that testimony over Rivera's self-serving version of events and find him guilty on both counts.

Rivera argues that the evidence was not sufficient to prove that Rivera actually fired the shots that killed Hodges and that injured Beth, given that Beth did not see him actually shoot. (Rivera's Br. 7–8.) But Rivera disregards that he was charged as a party to a crime on both counts. Accordingly, while the State's theory was that Rivera did the actual shooting, the jury only had to believe that Rivera aided and abetted someone else in shooting Hodges and Beth. The evidence was more than sufficient to do that, and Rivera offers no argument to the contrary.

In sum, Rivera is not entitled to relief on either claim.

#### CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the judgment of conviction. Dated this 4th day of October, 2018.